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Author’s Note

The original units of measurement for distances, temperatures and weights used at the time have been used in this book. Where appropriate, the modern conversions are shown.

In some cases, distances were measured in both statute and geographic miles. For reference, a statute mile is 5,280 feet (1.61 kilometres) and a geographic mile is 6,080 feet (1.85 kilometres). For the purposes of consistency, distances are given in statute miles and any reference to geographic miles is explained. In both cases, a conversion to the modern metric equivalent is given.

Temperatures are shown in Fahrenheit, the measurement widely used at the time. Approximate conversions to the more modern Celsius scale are shown where appropriate. For reference, water freezes at 32 °F (0 °C) and 0 °F is equal to -18 °C. The normal body temperature of 98.4 °F is equal to 36.9 °C.

Weight measurement is generally shown in the avoirdupois scale common at the time and approximate conversions to metric are shown where appropriate. For reference, 100 lb is equivalent to 45 kilograms and 1 ton is equal to 1,016 kg.

Places names are generally given as they were used in the Victorian/ Edwardian era. The Ross Ice Shelf, for example, is referred to as Great Ice Barrier or simply the Barrier.

The conversion of old money values into an estimated modern equivalent is provided by a formula supplied by the UK National Archives. For reference, £100 in 1900 would have the approximate spending value of £5,800/€7,000 today.

The punctuation, spelling and grammar used in original documents are faithfully reproduced, irrespective of the vagaries.




Introduction



From first to last the history of polar exploration is a single mighty manifestation of the power of the unknown over the mind of man … Nowhere else have we won our way more slowly, nowhere else has every new step cost so much trouble, so many privations and sufferings, and certainly nowhere have the resulting discoveries promised fewer material advantages …
FRIDTJOF NANSEN (1861–1930)



Fortitudine Vincimus
(By Endurance We Conquer)
SHACKLETON FAMILY MOTTO

The pallid twilight of daybreak hung over the still waters of King Edward Cove in the early hours of 5 January 1922. Dawn was minutes away on the remote island of South Georgia and the emerging daylight was slowly illuminating the magnificent natural amphitheatre of snow-capped mountains and grassy slopes surrounding the grubby, foul-smelling whaling station at Grytviken.

From shore, it was possible to glimpse the outlines of Quest, a small wooden ship anchored in the bay. On board Quest, as night gave way to day, Sir Ernest Shackleton succumbed to a massive heart attack and died.

It was a passing which simultaneously marked the loss of the greatest British explorer of the age and the moment when the celebrated era of Antarctic exploration, which was epitomised by the exploits of Shackleton, came to an end.

The final setting, a distant outpost on the edge of the Antarctic wilderness, could hardly have been better staged for Shackleton, a man synonymous with the icy regions. Shackleton, part adventurer and part romantic, was the Edwardian pioneer who made four epic voyages of discovery in what became known as the Heroic Age of Antarctic exploration, was feted as the consummate leader of men and today, nearly a century after his death, remains a lasting inspiration to new generations.

Outstanding historic figures are easily defined by their rank or title or by their association with places on the map. Captain Cook or Lawrence of Arabia spring to mind. However, Shackleton was – and remains so – just Shackleton.

Shackleton today is a cult figure who has assumed a mythical, almost saintly status. He occupies that peculiar place reserved for very few historical characters who can seemingly do no wrong. It is an unusual spot where critics tread carefully and where even rational debate is often made difficult by unswerving hero worship. Every detail of his life, including the most remote and tenuous connection, is pored over, dissected and analysed with an obsessive vigour.

The cult status is alive and well and grown men and women make pilgrimages to Grytviken and weep at Shackleton’s graveside, overlooking the waters where Quest was moored in 1922. It is unlikely that tears are shed over explorers with equally impeccable credentials, such as Roald Amundsen, Christopher Columbus, Vasco da Gama, Meriwether Lewis and William Clark, Ferdinand Magellan or Henry Morton Stanley.

However, it may surprise Shackleton’s modern disciples, many of whom are late converts to the cause, to discover that the current feverish popularity is a relatively new phenomenon. Indeed, Shackleton has spent longer in the shadows than in the spotlight. It is a situation which chimed with the fitting comment of Professor Stephen Jay Gould who said: ‘The most erroneous stories are those we think we know best – and therefore never scrutinise or question.’

For over half a century there was room for only one popular polar hero: the tragic figure of Captain Scott. It is as though polar history could cope with only Scott or Shackleton in the ascendancy – not both.

Scott was applauded as a martyr who bravely sacrificed himself in the quest to reach the South Pole for King and country. Improbable though it may seem to modern audiences, images of Scott’s disastrous South Pole expedition in 1912 were sent to the slaughterhouse of the Western Front during the First World War to rally the troops and demonstrate how to die nobly.

Every schoolchild was taught about the glorious failure of the South Pole expedition, dozens of memorials were erected to Scott and his four dead companions and a regular flow of books about the disaster poured off the presses for decades after. Scott of the Antarctic, the classic film drama, was released to popular acclaim fully 36 years after the tragedy and consolidated Scott’s special place in history.

In contrast, Shackleton was a marginal figure for decades. During life he struggled for acceptance by the establishment of the day and even in death he was respected rather than adored. Where Scott, the gallant naval officer, was seen as a courageous ambassador for a dying age of imperial endeavour, Shackleton was a single-minded adventurer in pursuit of his own cause.

The prevailing attitude to Shackleton was demonstrated in the late 1920s when friends sought to erect a statue in London to honour his memory. Some thought St Paul’s Cathedral was the appropriate location beside memorials to Nelson, Wellington and so many other notable Britons. A committee of associates and old companions eventually raised over £3,000 (about £100,000/€120,500 today) and a statue was finally unveiled outside the Royal Geographical Society in 1932, precisely 10 years after his death. It stands in a niche, high above the street and badly placed for anyone to see.

Nor was it possible for Shackleton to be commemorated in Ireland, the country of his birth. Shackleton, without question, was Ireland’s greatest explorer but Irish independence from British rule was formally approved by Dáil Éireann on 7 January 1922, only two days after his death. Any association with Britain was highly dangerous in the post-independence years, even for famous explorers. Shackleton was from Anglo-Irish stock, the small, select and privileged group who had largely owned and governed Ireland for centuries, often as absentee landlords. After independence, the Anglo-Irish were effectively classless, considered too British in Ireland and too Irish in Britain.

Men like Shackleton, Francis Crozier from County Down and the others who ventured to the ice in the 19th and 20th centuries were especially vulnerable since their expeditions, though not military in flavour, had sailed under the ubiquitous Union Jack. Explorers were caught in the cross-currents of the changing political order and were soon either airbrushed from Irish history or forgotten. Tom Crean, the petty officer from Kerry and veteran of three Antarctic expeditions with both Scott and Shackleton, saw his elder brother shot dead during the War of Independence and subsequently never spoke to a soul about his exploits. Patrick Keohane from Cork, who marched to within 350 miles of the South Pole with Scott in 1912, fled Ireland to protect his family. Others simply kept their heads down.1

It would be 80 years and into a new century before any explorer from the Heroic Age of Antarctic exploration was formally commemorated in Ireland. Even today the only official memorial to Shackleton in Ireland is the small plaque on the wall of a house in Dublin where he lived briefly as a child.

The apathy towards Shackleton extended far beyond his own personal popularity or political differences. James Caird, the iconic small boat and outstanding surviving artefact from Shackleton’s great endeavours on the Endurance expedition, spent many years in dusty corners of either Dulwich College or the National Maritime Museum in London. It was a half-forgotten remnant of a half-remembered explorer.

The number of books about Shackleton and his companions over the years was a mere trickle compared with the steady stream of works about almost every aspect of Scott and his colleagues on the South Pole venture. Hugh Robert Mill, Shackleton’s best friend, published a fine biography in 1923 which, though insightful and an important work for all scholars, inevitably reflects the very close relationship between the two men.2 The first fully impartial biography of Shackleton, written by Margery and James Fisher, did not appear until 1957, some 35 years after his death. Writing in the 1950s, the Fishers noted how to many Shackleton had become ‘a surprisingly vague’ character.3

The pendulum of popularity began to swing in Shackleton’s favour from the 1980s onwards, partly as a result of Roland Huntford’s brutal demolition of Scott in Scott & Amundsen which prompted a drastic reappraisal of a national icon and aroused a furious debate about what, by modern standards, constitutes a polar hero. At a time when Scott’s stock was plunging dramatically, Shackleton enjoyed a sudden resurgence, helped by Huntford’s fine biography of the man in 1985 and by Endurance, Caroline Alexander’s book which leant heavily on the outstanding historic photographs of Frank Hurley to record just one of Shackleton’s four expeditions to the ice.

The abrupt role reversal saw Shackleton catapulted to celebrity status as the flawless adventurer who never lost a man and Scott demoted to the role of bungling amateur whose failure symbolised the wider national decline of British pomp and power in the Edwardian era. Neither claim is wholly true.

It was the Endurance expedition, the greatest story of survival in Antarctic history, which became the principal focus of attention for those drawn to Shackleton for the first time. More books followed, mostly around the theme of Endurance, while new generations of followers were drawn to related exhibitions or television documentaries. Interest was maintained by a sudden flow of books about Shackleton’s comrades on Endurance, notably Crean, Orde Lees, Wild, Wordie and Worsley. Shackleton’s Irish roots were successfully explored by Jonathan Shackleton and John MacKenna.4

Picking over the finer points of ‘Shackletonia’ became a popular pastime for a new breed of devotees and his fame spread to some unlikely areas. For example, Shackleton’s inspirational style of leadership, once deployed in the grim struggle to survive in the freezing Antarctic wilderness, are now taught in earnest management schools and adopted in the slick, air-conditioned corporate tower blocks of big business. One 21st-century observer even speculated that had Shackleton been in business today he would rank alongside tycoons like Bill Gates, without appreciating the irony that Shackleton was a spectacular failure in every business venture he ever attempted.

Modern-day adventurers, inspired by his feats, regularly make their own personal pilgrimages to the same hostile regions where, with all the trappings of modern equipment and technology, they honour Shackleton’s memory by recreating the epic journeys and hardships of a century earlier. Tourists queue to visit Shackleton’s old haunts and experience a flavour of life on the edge a century ago. Everyone returns from the ice with increased admiration and even deeper respect for Shackleton.

And men and women weep at his graveside in Grytviken.

A new comprehensive biography of Shackleton is overdue. Remarkably, a generation has passed since Huntford produced the last all-embracing biography in 1985.5 Much has changed in the three decades since, including the appearance of new historical information and a more modern perspective on the history of Antarctic exploration. Shackleton, like the Heroic Age, is viewed differently today than he was 30 years ago.

Fortunately, any biographer has a rich source of material to assist in assessing the story of Shackleton’s rich, often controversial and contradictory life. This includes personal diaries and correspondence, family records and a vast collection of official and semi-official records held in a variety of archives, museums and other institutions. In addition, there is a large selection of personal journals and papers kept by Shackleton’s companions and his many associates, plus a substantial collection of published material spanning a century of writing about Shackleton and the Heroic Age of Antarctic exploration. Any biographer of Shackleton also faces the challenge of untangling the myths from the reality of a complex man’s packed life.

There were two different Shackletons. One was the charismatic, ambitious, buccaneering, Edwardian explorer with a love for poetry who touched greatness combating unimaginable hardship and depths of adversity in the most unwelcoming region of the world. On the ice, he created history, inspired his men to almost superhuman peaks of human endurance and loyalty. It is a testament to his natural abilities that Shackleton’s skills of leadership are still relevant in the 21st century. Those seeking the source of Shackleton’s genius should look no further than his unerring ability to inspire others. He possessed a remarkable capacity to understand his men and judge their shifting moods. In many respects, he understood men better than they themselves did. Shackleton’s unflagging spirit and unshakeable optimism in the direst circumstances were crucial to men clinging to the wreckage of their predicament. It was Napoleon who memorably said: ‘A leader is a dealer in hope.’ Shackleton was such a man, giving hope to men who feared they were beyond redemption.

Apsley Cherry-Garrard, a member of Scott’s last expedition, offered an especially persuasive assessment of Shackleton. In the preface to his fine book The Worst Journey in the World, Cherry-Garrard wrote: ‘For a joint scientific and geographical piece of organization, give me Scott; for a Winter Journey, Wilson; for a dash to the Pole and nothing else, Amundsen: and if I am in the devil of a hole and want to get out of it, give me Shackleton every time.’

The other Shackleton was the complex, flawed, restless, impatient and hopelessly unproductive character on dry land who struggled to come to terms with the civilising forces of day-to-day routine and domestic responsibilities. His private life was often chaotic and messy and he limped from one hopeless commercial venture to another without ever finding the riches he so eagerly sought. Shackleton’s only notable achievement in business was that he was a failure at virtually everything he tried. It says much for his dreamy, far-fetched understanding of business that he maintained a childlike longing to search for buried treasure. El Dorado, though, always remained beyond his grasp.

Some have likened Shackleton to a Drake or a Raleigh, a throwback to the great Elizabethan adventurers and explorers. But Shackleton was a one-off, a unique and compelling character who wrote his own history. He raced through life, rarely glancing sideways and never looking back. Shackleton was a gale of humanity.

Amundsen, the most accomplished polar explorer, was in no doubt about Shackleton’s qualities and declared: ‘Sir Ernest Shackleton’s name will for evermore be engraved with letters of fire in the history of Antarctic exploration.’




CHAPTER 1

Touching History

The fingerprints of history can be found in the deep family roots of Ernest Henry Shackleton. Tracing the line back almost 1,000 years, the Shackletons emerge as an intriguing mixture of religious pioneers and aristocrats, adventurers and rebels, blended with a stock of respectable folk drawn from the ranks of doctors, teachers and writers.

The name Shackleton is almost certainly derived from the old Anglo-Saxon English word scacol or scacoldenu meaning ‘tongue of land’. It was combined with tun, the Anglo-Saxon for enclosure or settlement, and is believed to spring from a hamlet now called Shackleton near Heptonstall, West Yorkshire.

The earliest recorded inhabitants were socage (feudal) tenants and yeomanry who were mentioned in the Wakefield Court Rolls from 1198 onwards. It is believed they held land in the area and may have been foresters and local law enforcers on the wooded estates of the Earl of Surrey, a descendant of the Norman nobleman William de Warenne who fought at the Battle of Hastings.1

Early variations of the name from the 12th century included Scachelden, Scackleton, Shackletun, de Shakeldene and Shakeltune. Richard Shackylton of Keighley was a bowman at Flodden in 1513, the largest ever battle between the English and Scots. The modern version appeared more consistently by the 15th and 16th centuries and, in 1588, Henry Shackleton of Darrington, near Pontefract, married into the family of Martin Frobisher, the colourful Elizabethan pirate-explorer from Wakefield made famous by three early attempts to navigate the icy waterways of the North-West Passage.

The immediate line to Ernest Shackleton can be traced to communes around the West Yorkshire settlements of Heptonstall and Keighley where in 1591 members of the family bought a home at Harden, a richly forested vale of land close to the town of Bingley. The property was subsequently called Shackleton House and was to remain in the family’s hands for some 200 years.

In 1675, during the decades of political and social upheaval after the English Civil War, Shackleton House passed to Richard Shackleton. It was an age of aggressive religious dissent which produced factions such as the Diggers, Puritans and Ranters who defied the established Church and sought enlightenment in their own assorted and often extreme spiritual sects. Richard Shackleton, a deeply religious man, was swept up in the fervour and became an early convert to the Society of Friends, better known as the Quakers.

Formed in 1647 during the Civil War, the Quakers were the radical wing of the Puritans who provided the spiritual backbone to Cromwell’s armies pitted against King Charles. But re-establishment of the Church of England in 1660, following the death of Cromwell, left the obdurate Quakers isolated and their refusal to pay tithes and take oaths inevitably brought them into conflict with mainstream society. Persecution and harassment were commonplace and Quaker meeting houses were attacked by mobs and many followers imprisoned for their beliefs.

Richard Shackleton was among the casualties, once serving three years in York prison for not attending church and holding Quaker meetings at Shackleton House. It was at Shackleton House in 1696 that Richard’s wife, Sarah Briggs, produced the last of their six children. Named Abraham, he went on to establish the Shackleton dynasty in Ireland.

Abraham, a pious young man, was orphaned by the age of eight and drifted into teaching at David Hall, a Quaker school in Skipton. He was later invited to teach in Ireland where the Quaker movement was in the early stages of spreading the Nonconformist message at a new settlement formed at Ballitore, County Kildare.

Ballitore, founded in 1685 by Abel Strettel and John Barcroft, was the first planned Quaker settlement in Ireland and the nascent community flourished in the open fields beside the River Greese, developing the rich farmland, building flour mills and laying the foundations for a thriving merchant class. It was the ideal setting for aspiring teacher Abraham Shackleton and his new wife, Margaret Wilkinson.

Abraham, now 30 years old, opened the Ballitore School for boys in March 1726. The school, about 40 miles to the west of Dublin near the border of Kildare and Wicklow, was subsequently run by generations of Shackletons and emerged as a beacon of learning that became synonymous with the ideals of the Quaker brethren.

Ballitore’s success – it was non-denominational at times – also helped dilute some anti-Quaker prejudice in Ireland during the 18th century and the school’s illustrious pupils included the statesman-philosopher Edmund Burke and the revolutionary James Napper Tandy. Richard Shackleton, the son of Abraham, who took over the running of the school, became close friends with Burke. It was said that Ballitore helped shape Burke’s strong civil and religious libertarian values. ‘If I am anything,’ Burke said, ‘it is the education I had there [Ballitore] that has made me so.’

Other notable predecessors of Ernest Shackleton included the prolific writer and historian Mary Shackleton Leadbeater who was a friend of Burke and memorably chronicled the affairs of the Ballitore community in late 18th and early 19th centuries. Another member of the Leadbeater line was the pioneering mountaineer Charles Barrington, the Quaker merchant from Wicklow who in 1858 made the first ascent of the Eiger, the most notorious of the Alpine peaks.

A century passed before the Shackleton family parted company with the Quakers and moved onto more traditional religious ground. Ebenezer Shackleton, the great-grandson of the school’s founder, became disenchanted with the Quakers in the early years of the 19th century and ushered the family into the mainstream Church of Ireland. It was a step which took the Shackleton family from one tiny and unpopular minority to the larger and most loathed minority of all – the powerful Anglo-Irish landowners and aristocrats who dominated Ireland, often as absentee landlords, for centuries.

Successive generations of landowners – the Protestant Ascendancy – flourished in the area known as the Pale, the ancient and rarefied enclave which marked the old territorial boundaries extending out from Dublin where the ruling class of Anglo-Irish lived apart from the wholesale poverty existing elsewhere. They owned Ireland’s banks, businesses and legal offices and turned out a succession of prominent soldiers, statesmen, politicians, businessmen and writers – including Wellington, Swift, Parnell and Arthur Guinness – in blissful isolation from the majority.

Survivors by nature, the ruling minority successfully withstood repeated rebellions and even the horrors of the Great Famine of the 1840s when an estimated 1 million died and another 2 million fled the country. Some of the detested landlords exported food at the height of the humanitarian crisis in what one observer called an ‘epic of English colonial cruelty’. A.J.P. Taylor, the distinguished English historian, said: ‘The English governing class had the blood of two million Irish people on their hands.’

After withdrawing from the Quaker fold, Ebenezer Shackleton developed a life away from the immediate sphere of Ballitore. He opened a mill at nearby Moone and in 1831, at the age of 47, married his second wife, 25-year-old Ellen Bell from Abbeyleix. It was a fertile union which produced nine children and, at Ellen’s wishes, the children were brought up as Anglicans, the first Shackleton children in well over a century to be raised outside the Quaker faith.

The eighth child, born at Moone on 1 January 1847 – at the height of the Famine – was named Henry. By the time Henry reached the age of nine, his father was dead and his widowed mother decided that the youngster should pursue a career in the army. Henry was subsequently sent to Old Hall School, Wellington, in England, but his studies were interrupted by illness and he returned to Ireland. After abandoning plans for a military career, Henry went to Dublin’s Trinity College where in 1868 he earned a degree in the Arts.

Henry Shackleton was 25 in 1872 when he married Henrietta Laetitia Sophia Gavan, the 26-year-old daughter of Henry Gavan from nearby Carlow. Together they had 10 children, including Ernest Shackleton.
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Shackleton’s parents. Dr Henry Shackleton came from Anglo-Irish and Quaker roots and Henrietta Shackleton (née Gavan) was a member of the long-established Fitzmaurices from Kerry. COURTESY: ATHY HERITAGE MUSEUM

Henrietta, a bubbly, good-humoured woman, came from deeply rooted Irish stock which provided a strong Irish bloodline to the Anglo-Irish and Quaker lineage of Henry Shackleton. As an adult, Ernest Shackleton would proudly boast of his Irish heritage and usually listed his nationality as Irish. However, as one of his sisters later observed: ‘We were never Irish till Mother [Henrietta Gavan] married into the family.’2

The link to old Irish ancestry came from Henrietta’s mother, Caroline Fitzmaurice, who was descended from the long-established Fitzmaurice clan whose Irish origins can be sketched back to the Norman invasion and may have links to medieval kings Louis VIII of France and John of England. It was a lineage which featured an assortment of aristocratic dukes and earls, eminent politicians and flamboyant landed gentry. Luminaries included the first Earl of Kerry in the 13th century and some who rebelled against English rule and others who supported the Crown.

One notable figure among the Fitzmaurices was the multifaceted Sir William Petty, a founding member of the Royal Society and physician general to Oliver Cromwell, whose skilful surveying of Ireland in the 1650s – the controversial Down Survey – was instrumental in the wholesale confiscation of Irish lands in the 17th century. Another was William Petty-Fitzmaurice who, as Prime Minister in 1782, signed the peace treaty which ended the War of Independence and British rule in America. Through the Huguenot Daniel Boubers de Bernatre, the Fitzmaurice line shared a common ancestor with Sir Leopold McClintock, the prominent 19th-century Arctic explorer who lived long enough to witness Ernest Shackleton depart for the ice at the opening of the 20th century.

Henry Gavan, Henrietta’s father, came from more modest stock. His father was Rector of Wallstown, Cork. Henry qualified as a doctor but abandoned medicine in favour of a commission in the Royal Irish Constabulary and was dead soon after.

Henry and Henrietta Shackleton settled in the familiar landscape of Kildare. The couple rented a 500-acre farm from the Duke of Leinster at Kilkea, a remote hamlet in the lush, fertile pastures a few miles south of the old market town of Athy. It is among the richest farmland in Ireland. Through the trees could be seen the 12th-century stronghold of Kilkea Castle and on a clear day it is possible to pick out the gentle curves of Wicklow’s mountains. Ebenezer’s mill at Moone was a handful of miles away and Henrietta’s family home lay a short distance to the south. Ballitore, the ancestral home of the Shackletons of Kildare, was within easy reach.
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The house at Kilkea, near Athy in Kildare, where Shackleton was born on 15 February 1874. MICHAEL SMITH.

The comfortable family home was a substantial Georgian farmhouse called Kilkea House, overlooking the easy slopes of Kildare. Henry and Henrietta Shackleton’s first child, Gertrude, was born at the end of 1872. The second child was born at Kilkea House on 15 February 1874. The blue-eyed boy was named Ernest Henry Shackleton. He shared a birthday with Galileo.




CHAPTER 2

The Lonely Sea and the Sky

Ernest Shackleton grew up in a rural idyll, surrounded by open countryside and close to the meandering waters of the River Greese. It was a happy and secure household on the upper slopes of Irish society. While Henrietta radiated kindness and good humour, Henry Shackleton was a cultured man with a fashionably full beard who provided stability, warm benevolence and a solid income. The rapid procession of six new children – Gertrude, Ernest, Amy, Francis, Ethel and Eleanor were born in a seven-year spell at Kilkea House – added to the sense of well-being in the Shackleton household.

Unfortunately for Henry Shackleton, circumstances elsewhere were disturbing the idyllic milieu. Irish farming faced critical economic problems in the 1870s. Incomes were in decline and, for the first time in centuries, the Catholic majority had begun to chip away at the bedrock of the Ascendancy’s power base – the land. Major democratic reforms gave more power to tenants from the old peasant class and the mostly Anglo-Irish landlords received a significant blow to their privileged status with the disestablishment of the Church of Ireland in 1871.
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Ernest Shackleton aged 11, in 1885, at around the time the family moved from Ireland to London. As a child he dreamed of sea-going adventures.
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Where rebellion had failed, basic economics and creeping democracy were fomenting a revolution in land ownership and political agitators seized the opportunity to press for more far-reaching reforms to end the dominance of the landlords. The revolt gained fresh momentum in 1879 with the onset of another famine – the last significant famine in Ireland – and the founding of the rebellious National Land League, which sparked the bitter and bloody Land War.

In the changed political climate, farming suddenly looked unappealing to Henry Shackleton who looked around for a career in a safer, more stable field. An uncle, Dr William Bell, practised medicine nearby and had developed an interest in alternative remedies like homeopathy. Within a year of the formation of the National Land League, Henry took the radical step of abandoning the farm at Kilkea. Even more radical was the decision to return to Trinity College and become a doctor.

In 1880, the 33-year-old medical student with six small children moved to 35 Marlborough Road, a sturdy red-bricked terraced house in what is today the fashionable Donnybrook district of Dublin. During four years in Dublin, Henry Shackleton qualified from Trinity and three more children – Clara, Helen and Kathleen – were added to the brood.

Dr Shackleton found medicine far more satisfying than farming and, sensing that the old order was changing, he took another major decision. In December 1884, Henry moved the family to England and set up his own practice. He never moved back to Ireland.

Croydon, then an undistinguished suburb on the outskirts of London, was chosen as the site of his first practice. However, the practice was a failure, partly because of resistance to Dr Shackleton’s interest in promoting unorthodox alternative medicines. After only six months, he withdrew from Croydon and in late 1885 opened a new surgery a few miles away in Sydenham, where he could run a general practice and develop his skills in homeopathy. Although trained as an orthodox physician and a member of England’s Royal College of Surgeons, he joined the British Homeopathic Society, worked at the Homeopathic Hospital in London’s Great Ormond Street and wrote articles on alternative medicine for a number of specialist journals.
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Aberdeen House, the Shackleton family home in the London suburb of Sydenham. The French impressionist, Camille Pissarro, once painted it. COURTESY SOPHIE KETTLE SMITH

The family set up home at Aberdeen House, 12 West Hill (now St David’s House, Westwood Hill), a large three-storey detached home down the hill from the glittering Crystal Palace, with a small place in artistic history. Aberdeen House, which stands alongside St Bartholomew’s Church in Westwood Hill, is a focal point of The Avenue, Sydenham, an acclaimed work by French impressionist Camille Pissarro, who worked in the area more than a decade before the Shackletons arrived.

Sydenham, which was enjoying rapid development on the back of Crystal Palace’s increasing popularity, was more to Dr Shackleton’s liking than Croydon and his practice thrived. Henrietta, now 42, gave birth to her tenth child – Gladys – in 1887 but was immediately struck down by a mysterious and debilitating illness. Henrietta, once a vivacious woman who provided a lively spark and passion to the family, would spend the remaining three decades of her life largely confined to bed.

Responsibility for the household fell solely onto the shoulders of Henry Shackleton, helped in part by assorted nannies and Caroline Gavan, Henrietta’s elderly mother. Somehow Henry managed to operate a successful general practice, pursue his interests in alternative medicine and maintain the firm but compassionate care of 10 children with ages ranging from toddlers to teenagers. In between, he methodically cultivated roses and reviewed medical books.

Dr Shackleton’s other passion was literature, especially poetry, which he eagerly passed onto the family, either by reading aloud from his favourite Tennyson or by involving the children in word games to name the poet or complete a line of verse. The children were enthusiastic participants, but it was young Ernest who displayed the keenest interest and he quickly developed a remarkable ability to recall lengthy lines of verse or the names of poets.

He never lost the knack and years later a colleague remembered that Shackleton could ‘quote [poetry] by the yard’. A friend, Mrs Hope Guthrie, recalled asking Shackleton if he ever needed to read a page from Shakespeare twice to commit the lines to memory. He replied: ‘Sometimes to make sure of the punctuation!’

Aberdeen House was a typically Victorian household, where a sometimes grave Dr Shackleton maintained strict discipline and drummed strong moral and religious values into the children and servants. He read aloud from the Bible, frowned on parties and other indulgences and actively encouraged his flock to campaign against the evils of alcohol. Servants were asked to sign the ‘pledge’ against intoxicating drink and the children joined the Band of Hope, a temperance movement for the young. On occasions, assorted Shackleton children congregated outside the pubs of Sydenham to sing solemn songs about the wickedness of drinking.

Ernest was a likeable, cheery child who was worshipped by his sisters. He revelled in the female attention and called the girls his ‘Harem’. He once persuaded them that the Monument, the 300-year-old column commemorating the Great Fire of London, had been erected in his honour. Charming the girls, even at an early age, came naturally to Ernest Shackleton.

Influenced by his father’s taste for books, Ernest was an avid reader. He developed an early fascination with tales of adventure and journeys of discovery to distant places and was captivated by anything relating to the hunt for buried treasure. At Kilkea House he had played out the adventures in a ‘ship’ fashioned from a rotting tree and did the same at Sydenham. ‘The unexplored parts of the world held a strong fascination for me from my earliest recollection,’ he recalled years later.

The Boy’s Own Paper, whose eye-popping serials nourished the imaginations of countless youngsters in the Victorian age, was a particular favourite. He was also fascinated by Jules Verne’s 20,000 Leagues Under the Sea which left a lasting impression. In later life Shackleton occasionally referred to himself as Nemo, in reference to the enigmatic sea captain in Verne’s classic work.

Another much-thumbed book was Charles Francis Hall’s Life With the Esquimaux, the record of an eccentric and obsessive American explorer from the 1860s. Hall’s images of ice floes, igloos and strange native costumes fired the young man’s imagination and, like Verne’s book, it left a permanent impression. In 1909, about 25 years after first picking up Hall’s memoir, Shackleton recalled: ‘I have always been interested in Polar Exploration. I can date my interest in the subject to the time when I was about ten. So great was my interest that I had read almost everything about North and South Polar Explorations.’1

Soon after the move to Sydenham in 1885, Henry Shackleton formalised Ernest’s education which up to this point had been handled at home by a series of governesses. At the age of 11, he was enrolled at Fir Lodge School, a preparatory school for the prestigious Dulwich College, close to Aberdeen House.

After a gentle, sheltered upbringing, the bustle of the classroom was a shock. In particular, his Irish background and distinct accent singled him out from the rest of the boys. Almost inevitably, he was called Mick or Mike, but was saved from being tagged Paddy only because a Patrick existed elsewhere at Fir Lodge.

Two years at Fir Lodge confirmed that, whatever else Ernest would achieve in life, he was no academic. Instead, he was remembered as doing very little work and as someone often involved in scraps with other pupils who poked fun at his Irish brogue. Much the same applied in 1887 when he was enrolled as a day boy at Dulwich College, the impeccably sound and highly regarded public school, where after three years of undistinguished plodding he left barely a trace. He excelled at little.

Dulwich, a brisk walk of a mile over the hill from Sydenham, was founded in 1619 during the reign of James I and by the late Victorian era was another cog in a wheel dutifully turning out respectable middle-class boys to serve as civil servants, clergymen and lawyers. Dulwich had earned the reputation as the nursery for the breed of men who administered colonial territories – particularly India – on behalf of the Empire. Matthew Arnold said Dulwich was the type of school he had ‘long desired, and vainly desired, to see put at the disposal of the professional and trading classes throughout this country’.

Over the years, Dulwich College also produced a number of distinguished writers, including Raymond Chandler, P.G. Wodehouse and A.E.W. Mason. Mason, who left Dulwich a few years before Shackleton arrived, wrote The Four Feathers, the popular Edwardian adventure yarn, which resonated with the imperial age and the school’s core values of serving God, monarch and country. The ambition of many young boys from the era was simply to serve the Empire as administrators or soldiers.

None of this carried any appeal for young Ernest. He found classical studies of Greek and Latin, which accounted for a large chunk of the basic teaching, unbearably dreary. His flaw was not lack of intellect. Ernest was impatient, drifting idly through lessons and rarely able to apply himself. He was easily bored and far more in tune with the dashing patriotic heroes created by Mason than with the classic ideals of Matthew Arnold. Teachers grumbled about his daydreaming and lack of effort, while his marks, particularly for the classics, were invariably bad. One report said he ‘had not fully exerted himself ’ and another plainly exasperated master concluded: ‘… wants waking up, is rather listless.’

To the masters at Dulwich, he was a rolling stone who was unlikely ever to appear on the school’s roll of honour. However, as one biographer noted, the ‘masters failed to touch the spring which controlled his ambition’.

Not even the commanding presence of Arthur Gilkes, the notable Dulwich headmaster of the time, could reach young Ernest. Physically and intellectually, Gilkes towered over Dulwich for almost three decades and was an inspirational head to generations of boys. He stood 6 feet 5 inches tall, was a Double First at Oxford and revered as Dulwich’s finest head. Gilkes lived by a code of ‘respectful kindness’ to the boys and was a father figure to many youngsters, especially the boarders whose parents, posted to far-flung corners of the Empire, were rarely seen. Gilkes, it was said, existed ‘very near to God’. But even Gilkes found Shackleton ‘backward for his age’ and hard to motivate. Hugh Robert Mill, Shackleton’s close friend and first biographer, summed up Ernest’s undistinguished years at Dulwich with this observation: ‘He was certainly a poor scholar … and in the class lists his name was almost always far south of the equator and sometimes perilously near the pole.’2

Almost two decades later, Shackleton, by now a celebrated explorer, returned to Dulwich to preside over the school’s prize-giving ceremony. Watched by Gilkes, who was well into his 60s, Shackleton remarked that the occasion was the nearest he had ever been to a prize at Dulwich College.

Ernest had no special hobbies as a child, unless it was reading or telling stories. Although he played and enjoyed the typical assortment of school sports, he never made the breakthrough to the forefront of team games like cricket or rugby, which embodied the typical character-building ‘Muscular Christianity’ of Victorian public schools like Dulwich. The only flicker of sporting prowess came where, one-on-one, he could pit his wits against a single foe in events like boxing.

However, he was generally popular with his fellow pupils who warmed to his lively temperament, cheerful banter and never-ending stream of stories. John Quiller Rowett, a fellow student, recalled that Shackleton was ‘always full of life and jokes but was never very fond of lessons’.

Ernest’s unease at Dulwich inevitably blossomed into truancy. On occasions he recruited two or three others to hide amidst the trees and undergrowth of the local Silverdale Woods, fortified by scraps of food smuggled from the kitchen and a few cheap cigarettes. Shackleton, with his gift for spinning a good yarn, kept the truants engrossed with tales of great sea journeys culled from the pages of The Boy’s Own or by reciting heroic poems, such as the Wreck of the Hesperus or Ye Mariners of England. Shackleton, much the youngest of the truants, was notable as being leader of the gang.

Inspired by the rhetoric, the youngsters resolved to become sailors and once took a train to London Bridge where they roamed the docks gazing longingly at the ships coming and going in the busy Thames waterway, aching for the chance to run away to sea. Hoping to sign on as cabin boys, the lads optimistically approached the chief steward on a steamer who smiled fondly and told them to go home before they were missed.

The setback only delayed Ernest’s ambition of becoming a sailor. As he approached his 16th birthday, Ernest was driven by an increasing desire to flee the monotony of Dulwich College. The sea, with all its adventurous appeal, was the obvious escape route.

The problem was how to make the break, particularly as Dr Shackleton nurtured hopes that his eldest son would follow him into the safe and respectable field of medicine. His father, Ernest later remembered, was ‘very much against’ him going to sea, with its assorted dangers and hardships and modest rewards.

However, Henry Shackleton was a realist, a positive man who had shown his decisive touch by changing career and country to provide a better life for his family. It was also apparent that, after three mediocre years at Dulwich, Ernest was not academically gifted and lacked the commitment to study for exams and qualify as a doctor.
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Shackleton aged 16, embarking on a career at sea.

The unknown factor was Ernest’s capricious nature. Dr Shackleton feared that the sea might be a passing fad for the youngster who, so far at least, had never shown devotion to any specific cause. In addition, the fees for the Royal Navy’s Britannia College were beyond Henry’s means.

Dr Shackleton’s solution was to test his son’s ambition to destruction. He decided to send Ernest on a trial voyage, hoping that the rigorous everyday reality of life at sea would cure the youngster’s ambition once and for all. He reckoned without his son’s inbuilt determination.

Dr Shackleton approached Rev. G.W. Woosnam, a cousin in Liverpool who was Superintendent of the Mersey Mission to Seaman and well connected in merchant shipping circles. Woosnam’s choice was the North Western Shipping Company of Liverpool and the young man was duly signed on to serve the first year of an apprenticeship at the rank of Boy.

Ernest Shackleton, barely 16 years of age, was paid 1s a month (about £3/€3.60 in today’s terms) and was under no illusions about the challenging test his father had set him. He later explained: ‘My father thought to cure me of my predilection for the sea by letting me go in the most primitive manner possible as a “boy” on board a sailing ship at a shilling a month. Twelve shillings a year for working hard, facing all kinds of weather, beating round the world against every wind that blew – that’s the sort of school I swopped Dulwich for.’3

Joining North Western Shipping had an immediate impact on the young man’s school work. Ernest suddenly became the ideal scholar, displaying abilities and dedication that idle indifference had obscured for years. He leapt to third in both chemistry and mathematics, second in history and his form master reported a ‘marked improvement’ in both work and behaviour. Gilkes, no doubt wishing the lad had shown the same application throughout, wrote: ‘I hope that he will do well.’

Ernest Shackleton left Dulwich College at Easter 1890, not waiting for the full school year to finish. He travelled alone to Liverpool to meet Captain Partridge, skipper of Hoghton Tower, one of the impressive clippers in North Western Shipping Company’s fleet, for his maiden voyage. As Dr Shackleton expected, it was to be a ferocious baptism.

Hoghton Tower, an elegant but ageing reminder of the fast-disappearing age of sail, was primed for a voyage around Cape Horn in the depth of southern-hemisphere winter. Launched during the great age of ocean-going clippers, the graceful three-masted craft boasted a displacement of 1,600 tons and measured 240 feet (72 m) in length. Hoghton Tower could carry 2,000 tons of cargo and offered select accommodation for 16 first-class passengers, a special ladies’ cabin and a stylish saloon featuring polished teak panelling, gold mouldings and a piano donated by Sir Henry de Hoghton, the Lancashire baronet after whose ancestral seat the ship was named. The vessel, once described as a ‘magnificent specimen of iron shipbuilding’, was five years older than Shackleton.

Shackleton’s maiden voyage began on 30 April 1890 as Hoghton Tower was towed out of Liverpool bound for Valparaiso in Chile. It was a classic sea-going journey which could easily have been plucked from the pages of The Boy’s Own and would take him on a year-long passage more than 20,000 miles (32,000 km) across the Equator to the South Atlantic, around the Horn and into the Pacific.

Shackleton, who had never spent longer than a week away from the subdued surroundings of a suburban family home, quickly discovered that life at sea was an alien world. The drunkenness of the crew appalled the former member of the Band of Hope and the habitual swearing and blaspheming was a shock to the ears of a lad more accustomed to reciting lines of poetry or Biblical verses. Hoghton Tower’s quarters, he discovered, were packed with unwashed humanity and the food was unfamiliar and unappealing. He was badly sick as soon as the ship broke into open water.

But Shackleton adapted quickly, despite the demanding work and occasional drudgery of scrubbing decks or polishing brass. The key was the novelty of it all and Shackleton’s eagerness to learn. The willing apprentice savoured the learning curve of unpicking the principles of sailing or mastering the bewildering names and functions of the myriad of ropes and wire stays criss-crossing the ship. Everything was new and, while it remained fresh, Shackleton retained a passionate, uninhibited interest.

Shackleton stood out in the first days, a slightly built fresh-faced novice who seemed hardly cut out for the challenge of the high seas. The crew laughed when he said his prayers at night or opened the Bible but his innocence had a peculiarly disarming effect on some. Before long, a few shipmates began to follow his example and could be found poring over the Bible as the Hoghton Tower drove south towards Cape Horn.

Making friends, even among the hard-boiled crew, came easily to the apprentice. His easy-going manner and gift for telling a good yarn was well received and Captain Partridge, a considerate man who kept a watchful eye on the young boys under his command, spotted something else about Shackleton. He was, said Partridge, the ‘most pig-headed obstinate boy’ he had ever encountered.

Shackleton relished what he called ‘pretty hard and dirty work’ and even the perils of climbing 150 feet aloft in a storm released an exhilarating mixture of fear and excitement. John Masefield, another of the North Western Shipping’s trainees of the same era, most memorably captured the thrill felt by Shackleton and other apprentices. In what became an anthem for sailors everywhere, the future Poet Laureate wrote:

I must go down to the seas again, to the lonely sea and the sky,
And all I ask is a tall ship and a star to steer her by,
And the wheel’s kick and the wind’s song and the white sail’s shaking,
And a grey mist on the sea’s face, and a grey dawn breaking.4

Rounding the Horn, the sort of encounter Dr Shackleton believed would kill or cure his son’s sea-going whim, was a terrible ordeal. Hoghton Tower, sailing east to west against the strong prevailing winds, was assailed by storms and men were on constant alert for marauding icebergs creeping up from the southerly reaches of the Drake Passage. Two boats were lost and spars were smashed, injuring several crewmen. Shackleton narrowly escaped being struck by falling tackle in one pounding storm. He now understood more clearly why old hands swore the deck of a clipper was ‘about as close to God as man is ever likely to come’.

Hoghton Tower survived the battering and sailed into Valparaiso in mid-August after 15 weeks at sea. As a small reward, Captain Partridge took Shackleton to dinner with the local Consul, where he dutifully refused to drink wine. However, he found time to pursue the pretty young daughters of a local family.

Hoghton Tower began the return journey in October 1890, stopping first at the Chilean port of Iquique to pick up a cargo of nitrates. After another testing voyage around the Horn, the ship docked at Falmouth in March 1891 with water supplies almost exhausted. The ship re-entered Liverpool in late April, completing a round trip of almost 40,000 miles (64,000 km) in exactly one year at sea.

It was, Shackleton later recalled, ‘one of the stiffest apprenticeships’ that a boy ever experienced. ‘My first voyage taught me more geography than I should have learned had I remained at school to the age of 80,’ he added. By the end of the voyage Shackleton was smoking regularly.

Captain Partridge reported back to Rev. Woosnam that there was ‘no real fault to find with him and he can do his work right well’. If it was little less than a ringing endorsement, Partridge added that he was ‘quite ready’ to take him back, if the apprentice wished to go.

Shackleton was mobbed by his eight sisters and quizzed by his father, who was eager to discover if a year at sea had ended his son’s ambition of going to sea. It had not. Within months of returning to Sydenham, Shackleton was formally indentured as an apprentice to North Western Shipping.

Shackleton’s apprenticeship took him into the heart of a Victorian institution, the mighty shipping empire of Thomas Ismay and William Imrie Jr, whose Oceanic Steam Navigation Company embraced White Star Line and North Western Shipping. Two of Oceanic Navigation’s influential shareholders were Edward Harland and Gustav Wolff, creators of the Belfast shipbuilders Harland & Wolff who would later build Titanic for the White Star Line. While Ismay ran luxury ocean-going steamers under the White Star flag, Imrie managed North Western’s graceful sailing ships like Hoghton Tower, which by the 1890s were still managing to defy, at least briefly, the advance of the steam engine and eke out a living of sorts on routes with favourable winds.

Shackleton was back on board Hoghton Tower by June 1891, sailing from Cardiff with a cargo of fuel bound for Iquique. The perilous trip around the Horn was made without the thoughtful influence of Partridge who had been replaced by the more disciplinarian Captain Robert Robinson. The hard work and high seas, though much the same as before, seemed more arduous and much less exhilarating under Robinson’s authoritarian command and Shackleton felt more alone. He seemed less willing to cope with the foul language and bawdiness of his shipmates and retreated further into himself, comforted mainly by his books. He was struck by occasional bouts of homesickness and entered Iquique with the added distress of dysentery.

Hoghton Tower returned to England in May 1892 with Shackleton showing the first signs of uneasiness about the sea. Another two years of apprenticeship seemed daunting to the impatient 18-year-old, but the sailing schedules left little time to dwell. A month later, Hoghton Tower headed to India with a cargo of salt. Amidst the stress of a very rough passage around the Cape of Good Hope, Shackleton grew ever more restless and long stints hefting cargo sacks in the sultry heat of the Bay of Bengal suddenly seemed a long way from the romance of the sea.

From India, Hoghton Tower went to New South Wales in Australia, where the ship was ordered to cross the Pacific to Chile. Ferocious storms struck in mid-ocean and Shackleton barely escaped with his life during one gale when bits of rigging crashed to deck. ‘It is a miracle I was not killed,’ he reported. ‘Nature seemed to be pouring out the vials of her wrath.’

Patched up and carrying fresh cargoes, Hoghton Tower again navigated Cape Horn before completing the voyage in July 1894. At the end of a two-year journey around the world Shackleton had finally reached the end of his apprenticeship.

Shackleton, now 20 years old, had grown up and filled out during four years of indenture on Hoghton Tower. He emerged as a brisk and assured young man of about 5 feet 10 inches with golden-brown hair, whose broad shoulders, barrel chest, firmly set jaw and glint in his eye radiated self-confidence. He was ruggedly handsome and his smile could light up a room. Months at sea had given Shackleton the typical rolling gait of a sailor and the characteristic flow of lively chatter was delivered in attractively rich dark-brown tones. Shackleton was easy to like and in turn he seemed at ease with everyone from captains to cabin boys. Rank meant little to him. His family also noticed that Shackleton rarely went to church any longer.
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The 10 Shackleton children pictured around 1894. (Standing, l–r) Clara (1881–1958), Ernest (1874–1922), Eleanor (1879–1960); (seated, dark dresses, l–r) Ethel (1878–1935), Amy 1875–1953), Alice (1872–1938); (seated front, l–r) Kathleen (1884–1961), Frank (1876–1941), Gladys (1887–1962), Helen (1882–1962). COURTESY: SHACKLETON FAMILY

Four arduous years on a clipper left him unsure about the sea, but he had no obvious alternative career in mind. Without any firm conviction either way, he elected to take the next step upwards.

It was common for young seafarers who were progressing towards qualification as ship’s master to serve time on tramp steamers and Shackleton followed the custom. He passed the Board of Trade examination as Second Mate without too much difficulty and in October 1894 he took a posting as Third Mate on Monmouthshire, a tramp steamer in the Shire Line. His first voyage took Monmouthshire down the same waters of the Thames where as a truant schoolboy he had unsuccessfully tried to run away to sea.

The posting to Monmouthshire was no fluke for a young officer who had discovered that breezy charm was a useful asset in the search for work. Instead of pacing around the shipping offices in search of a berth, Shackleton canvassed Owen Burne, an old school friend whose job in the wine trade provided useful contacts in the shipping lines. Burne introduced Shackleton to Shire Line’s managing partner who offered him the position as Fourth Mate on Monmouthshire. On seeing the quarters available, Shackleton said cheekily he would only sail as Third Mate. The manager surprisingly agreed because, as he later admitted, ‘I rather liked the chap.’

Shackleton served Shire Line – called Welsh Shire to distinguish it from the Scottish Shire Line – for almost five years and truly found his sea legs. Shire’s biggest markets were in China and Japan which meant a regular succession of long voyages to the other side of the world. Monmouthshire was far more comfortable than Hoghton Tower and the welcome luxury of his own cabin allowed Shackleton to spend his off-duty hours reading in peace. He seemed to be immersed in books and was increasingly drawn to the poetry of Tennyson and Swinburne. At times he wrote his own verse.

Promotion followed and in early 1896, he passed the examination for First Mate and was posted to Flintshire, a larger steamer in the Shire fleet. Soon afterwards, Shackleton fell in love.




CHAPTER 3

Love and Ambition

Shackleton, now 23, came home to Aberdeen House in June 1897 with sufficient time at sea under his belt to have lost all romantic notions about the life of a sailor. Long journeys around the Cape of Good Hope to the Far East or Australia on a tramp steamer were unrelentingly hard and the wages no more than moderate. The future held only more of the same. Shackleton wanted a great deal more than the certainty of mediocrity.

It was the rose-growing season at home and Dr Shackleton was as busy as ever as Shackleton strode into Aberdeen House. His arrival coincided with Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee celebrations, the lavish spectacular of pageantry which marked the high tide of the British Empire. But what caught Shackleton’s eye was Emily Dorman, a friend of one of his sisters, who lived nearby in Sydenham.

Emily Mary Dorman was slim, elegant and blessed with striking blue eyes. She was well educated, articulate and especially keen on books and the arts. The playful smile and gentle flirting were risqué enough to make her interesting. Shackleton was aroused by the chase, especially when Emily showed only passing interest in a modest ship’s officer. At 29, she was six years older than Shackleton and her sights may have been set elsewhere.

Tall, dark and wholesome, Emily Dorman came with a classically solid middle-class pedigree embedded in the Church and the Law. She was one of six children born to Charles Dorman, a senior partner in London solicitors Kingsford, Dorman, and Jane Swinford, who was brought up in the sheltered cloisters of the ancient Minster Abbey. Close family and friends called her Emmy.

The Dormans were well-off pillars of the community and the model of Victorian respectability who could call upon four servants to look after their every need. Now in his late 60s, Charles Dorman was widowed and combined his solid work in the legal profession with a restrained passion for plants and philanthropy. He played a prominent role at The Skinners’ Company, one of the City of London’s ancient guilds with a long interest in raising education standards. Dorman became Master of the 600-year-old guild and in 1890 laid the foundation stone for the new Skinners’ School for Girls in London.

The three Dorman sons took the predictable steps of entering the Church or law. Arthur Dorman, the eldest, was curate at St Bartholomew’s next door to the Shackletons’ Aberdeen House. Another son, Charles, followed his father and became Master of The Skinners’ Company. The Dorman daughters – 36-year-old Julia, Emily and 23-year-old Maud, known as Daisy – enjoyed all the benefits of a good education, comfortable lifestyle and a loving family. But marriage had somehow eluded all three women.

Although marriage was always on the agenda, Emily was determined not to be rushed into anything hasty or unsuitable. She was an independent-minded woman who rejected the convention of the day that a daughter’s sole ambition was to find a husband. An unhappy affair had only recently ended when Shackleton first glimpsed her in the drawing room of Aberdeen House but she consoled herself with the knowledge that men invariably found her attractive. It was said Emily had entertained 16 proposals of marriage but as she approached her 30s, marriage seemed as far away as ever.

Shackleton took an instant liking to Emily Dorman, although he was allowed only a few weeks to pursue her before Flintshire embarked on another lengthy trip to the Far East. His feelings deepened and the pursuit was resumed with fresh vigour after Shackleton returned to Sydenham in early 1898.

Common ground was soon established. Both came from large, affectionate families and their respective fathers, well-to-do professionals and respected members of the community, shared an interest in gardening and plants. Dr Shackleton was a keen rose grower and member of the Royal Horticultural Society while Charles Dorman owned a well-appointed farm in East Sussex where he became one of the earliest private orchid growers in England.

The relationship struck another chord with reading, especially poetry. Emily, it emerged, shared Ernest’s passionate interest in the poets and he was happy to impress her with lengthy quotations from his favourites. He also discovered that poetry was a convenient means of expressing his own feelings.

Emily’s favourite was Browning, to whose work she introduced Shackleton. At the time he preferred Swinburne. Shackleton was no easy convert but Emily gave him two books – a pocket volume of Poetical Works and the recently published biography of Browning by William Sharp – to take away to sea. ‘Ernest loved Browning from that time onwards,’ she remembered.
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Emily Dorman. Shackleton fell in love with the elegant, cultured woman who was six years his senior and they married in 1904 after a long courtship. COURTESY: ATHY HERITAGE MUSEUM
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Charles Dorman, Emily’s father, was a prosperous solicitor. COURTESY: CHRISTINE AND CHARLES DORMAN

Shackleton discovered a liking for what he described as Browning’s ‘never say die’ attitude and the ‘grand way which he faces the future’. In addition, he found the passionate language gave words to his own feelings for Emily, while the burning sense of optimism in Browning’s poems were echoed in Shackleton’s own positive outlook and natural self-confidence.

Leonard Hussey, the meteorologist who served on two Antarctic expeditions with Shackleton, saw the connection between Browning’s poetry and Shackleton’s strong character. ‘Shackleton held with Browning that “we fall to rise again” and every defeat stirred him to further efforts,’ Hussey wrote.1

‘Prospice’, the powerful verse Browning wrote after the death of his wife, had a special appeal for Shackleton and Emily, particularly the underlying theme of defiance. (A translation of the Latin prospice is ‘look forward’.) Emily explained: ‘Prospice! means just everything, if only it is the truth.’

The poem’s title became a private watchword between the pair and he frequently signed off letters or telegrams to her with the single word ‘Prospice’, each knowing the special meaning of lines such as:



I was ever a fighter, so – one fight more,
The best and the last!

Both also wrote a little. Or, as Emily recalled, they had ‘small literary aspirations’ in common. (Emily’s aspirations were later fulfilled with the publication in 1902 of a minor book on the monarchy, entitled The Corona of Royalty.)

Shackleton was in love for the first time in his life and contemplated marriage. However, the measured pace of promotion at Shire Line and even the longer-term prospects of an officer on a tramp steamer were dismally short of what the affluent Emily might expect in a future husband. Or, by custom, what a prosperous solicitor might expect for his daughter.

It made little substantial difference to his prospects when Shackleton reached what for many young men was the pinnacle of the sea-going profession. In April 1898, while in Singapore, he collected his Master’s Certificate – signed by Colonial Secretary, Winston Churchill – which conveyed the power to take command of any ship in the world’s merchant service. He felt instinctively that it would not be enough to impress Emily.

A colleague on Flintshire recalled a conversation at around the time of Shackleton’s promotion. Ship’s engineer James Dunsmore cheerfully speculated that Shackleton would soon be elevated to captain of Flintshire and was told in reply: ‘“You see, old man,” he said, “as long as I remain with this company I will never be more than a skipper. But I think I can do something better. In fact, really, I would like to make a name for myself – he paused for a moment – and for her.” I noticed his face seemed to light up at the mention of her. In my bunk that night I felt convinced that the ambition of that man’s life was to do something worthy – not only for himself, but for her.’2

According to Shackleton’s version of events, it was around this time that he first contemplated becoming a polar explorer. Apocryphal or not, he recalled that while crossing from New York to Gibraltar, he claimed to have dreamt of standing on the bridge in mid-Atlantic gazing northward. ‘I seemed to vow to myself that some day I would go to the region of ice and snow and go on and on till I came to one of the poles of the earth, the end of the axis upon which this great round ball turns,’ he said. ‘After that I never had any doubt that sooner or later I should go upon a polar expedition.’3

Shackleton’s ambition was one thing. Emily’s uncertainty was another. She was unsure about Shackleton and seemingly unable to commit herself. At times he sensed there was someone else in her life and her mood swings played havoc with his emotions, particularly during the long, lonely days at sea when he brooded over the relationship in the solitary confinement of his small cabin. On occasions her letters offered encouragement and on others she dashed his hopes. In one note to her, Shackleton wrote that the future was ‘so uncertain that I dare hardly shape a hope …’

Emily’s apprehension about becoming a sea captain’s wife was underlined on Christmas Day 1898 when Shackleton had to report for duty on Flintshire. Less than 24 hours later Flintshire ran aground in a storm off the Yorkshire coast. Shackleton, making the excuse that he wanted to celebrate his father’s birthday on New Year’s Day, rushed south to meet Emily.

Shackleton went straight to the Dorman household where he and Emily spent the evening in the billiard room, locked in deep discussion around the green baize, heavy drapery and ornate furnishings. Throwing caution to the wind, Shackleton told Emily he loved her and pledged to make a name for himself in preparation for marriage. Emily was deeply moved by his earnest conviction. For the first time she began to accept the possibility of marriage. It was a turning point in their relationship.

The conversation was so intense that Shackleton forgot about a lighted cigarette left on the oak chimney piece which slowly burnt a small black dent in the wooden frame. He kissed her hand and left through the conservatory at 10.30 p.m. But the memory of the special evening would always be summoned by a knowing glance at the black mark on the chimney piece.

Shackleton was greatly encouraged, helped with the knowledge that he was also winning the charm offensive with Emily’s father. Charles Dorman, like most people of casual acquaintance, initially found Shackleton amiable and likeable. But he was less convinced the more he looked beyond the pleasantries and small talk. Dorman needed to know that Emmy’s welfare was in safe hands.

To help satisfy himself, Dorman put Shackleton on probation. Shackleton was invited to a few of the regular dinner parties. On occasions, he spent weekends at Towngate, Dorman’s farm overlooking the rolling pastures of Tidebrook Valley at Wadhurst, East Sussex where he successfully grew orchids and could take the measure of a prospective son-in-law. ‘My father liked him and was very kind to us both,’ Emily said. Others, she recalled, thought the relationship ‘foolish’.

Shackleton was now a driven man and a week after absent-mindedly burning a dent in Dorman’s chimney frame, resigned from Shire Line in search of a posting which carried more prestige and better prospects. Helped once again by Owen Burne, he took a job as Fourth Officer on Tantallon Castle. Prospects suddenly seemed brighter.

Tantallon Castle, an impressive 5,000-ton passenger liner in the Castle Line, was a significant step up for an ambitious young officer on the make and a prominent enough posting to make an impression.

Castle Line held a place among the elite of the British merchant fleet whose ships like Tantallon Castle provided the link between England and the colonial outpost of South Africa. Castle, with a timetable which ran like clockwork, carried passengers and cargo to the Cape with metronomic regularity and was one of only two shipping lines permitted to carry the Royal Mail. By repute, Castle’s voyages across the equator created a new word in the English language – ‘posh’, meaning Port Out (coveted shady cabins on the left on voyages to the Cape and India), Starboard Home (shaded right-sided cabins on the northerly homeward leg).

Shackleton made three 12,000-mile (19,000 km) round trips from Southampton on the mail run to South Africa in 1899, with the added bonus that the regular sailing schedule made it easier to meet Emily. The stylish surroundings of Tantallon Castle were also more convivial and Shackleton, with his easy manner and engaging personality, had developed a distinct knack for picking out and impressing the more influential passengers. For someone trying to make a name it was a handy skill.

Gerald Lysaght, a prosperous steel manufacturer, was typical of those who were captivated by Shackleton’s winning and eloquently amusing style. But Lysaght also saw beyond the blarney to spot a rugged determination and innate power in the young officer. He recognised in Shackleton what another acquaintance described as his ‘inexhaustible animal spirits and explosive energy’. In time, Lysaght became one of Shackleton’s most generous patrons.

Others found a more complex character. John Hussey, a captain with the Line, said he was ‘several types bound in one volume’. Shackleton, with his shoulders hunched, square jaw set and his eyes cold and piercing, could suddenly switch from quoting Keats or Browning to being a ‘determined, self-reliant, fearless, and dominant personality,’ Captain Hussey found. ‘When he was on a subject that absorbed his interest or appealed to his imagination, his voice changed to a deep vibrant tone, his features worked, his eyes shone, and his whole body seemed to have received an increase of vitality, he added. ‘At such a time he might have been likened to a bull at bay.’4

The outbreak of war between Britain and the Afrikaans-speaking settlers in South Africa in October 1899, which was initially viewed as a minor scrap, brought new challenges and opportunities for Shackleton. He was appointed Third Officer on Tintagel Castle, a 3,500-ton Castle liner which was commissioned to carry troops to the Cape to quell the rebellious farmers and irregular Boer guerrillas. (Coincidentally, Castle was simultaneously negotiating a merger with the Union Line, the other shipping line permitted to carry the Royal Mail to the Cape.)

In a mood of near celebration and heady patriotism, Tintagel Castle sailed from Southampton on 14 December with a complement of 1,200 soldiers who, like the officers and crew and cheering well-wishers on the quayside, shared the widespread belief that the revolt would be crushed in a matter of weeks. Some feared the fighting would be over before the troops reached the Cape.

The optimism soon had a hollow ring since Tintagel Castle’s departure from Southampton coincided with Black Week, the ignominious opening episode of the war when the Boers inflicted three heavy defeats on British forces in the space of a week. Almost 3,000 soldiers were killed, wounded or captured in Black Week, forcing a rapid change of strategy and a call for extra troops to be sent to the Cape. Among those who answered the call was Frank Shackleton, a 24-year-old member of the Royal Irish Fusiliers and younger brother of Tintagel Castle’s Third Officer.

Tintagel Castle returned to Southampton carrying lurid details of the humiliations of Black Week and after a rapid turnaround sailed for the Cape again in early March 1900 with a convoy of fresh troops. The merger of Castle and Union, creating the powerful Union Castle Mail Steamship Company, took effect on the same day. It was a journey that also changed the course of Shackleton’s life.

As unofficial entertainments officer, Shackleton was the effervescent soul of the crowded ship, breaking up the dull days at sea by arranging a flurry of sporting activities or concerts to entertain the troops. He taught semaphore to some officers and then, in an attempt at something new, tried his hand at publishing.
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Shackleton with Emily Dorman (left) and her sister Daisy in 1900. COURTESY: ATHY HERITAGE MUSEUM

The new diversion arose when Shackleton helped produce a small souvenir de voyage to commemorate the passage south which in a vague way he hoped might generate a profitable future sideline in books or journalism. The book, which was compiled with the ship’s doctor, William McLean, and others, was entitled OHMS or How 1200 Soldiers Went to Table Bay. Shackleton, it seemed, had discovered a previously unknown flair for publishing.

The book included patriotic poems to chime with the popular mood, an article on the workings of the Maxim machine gun for armchair soldiers and a roll-call of every regiment and the peace-time occupations of the troops on board. About 2,000 subscribers were assembled, enough to print a limited edition. Shackleton, with an audacious display of self-confidence and feel for the value of good publicity, sent a specially bound copy to Queen Victoria.

Enlivened by the thrill of something new, he gave another copy to Emily with an inscription that hinted at the prospect of delving further into journalism or publishing. He scribbled in the book: ‘E to E July 1900 The First Fruits.’5

Shackleton moved easily around Tintagel Castle, enjoying his moment as centre of attention and networking with those who caught the eye or who he thought might be useful. ‘A vision in white and gold’ said one witness who watched as Shackleton played the crowd and deftly filtered the interesting from the uninteresting.

One man who caught his attention was Lieutenant Cedric Longstaff, a young army officer with an immaculate connection. Longstaff ’s father was Llewellyn Longstaff, the wealthy industrialist. Almost single-handedly, Longstaff ’s generosity had provided the money to launch the proposed new expedition to explore Antarctica.

The expedition, the most ambitious attempt to explore the last unknown continent, would open Britain’s programme of Antarctic exploration for the next two decades. The chance meeting also began the transformation of Ernest Shackleton from anonymous ship’s officer to the country’s most acclaimed living explorer.




CHAPTER 4

Laying the World at Her Feet

Shackleton celebrated his 26th birthday in February 1900 while on the high seas somewhere between England and South Africa. If the celebrations were muted it was because he could not shake off the uneasy feeling that life was passing him by.

A colleague said he feared that the routine of weeks and months at sea might eventually ‘strangle his individuality’ and that his ‘virility [was] passing away in weary waiting’ for some unseen opportunity to arise. The sea, after 10 years of hard labour, had lost its appeal.

What the restless mariner lacked was a cause which would achieve the near impossible task of stimulating his interest, making a fortune and securing a respectable future with Emily. In the cursory chat with the young officer Longstaff on Tintagel Castle Shackleton found a calling which appeared to match his ambitions.

Shackleton seized the moment and asked Lieutenant Longstaff to arrange a meeting with his father. Through Longstaff senior he saw the chance to join the Antarctic venture and somehow make a name for himself. Beyond that lay the prospect of marrying Emily.

Going to the ends of the earth to impress Emily was a typically flamboyant gesture by Shackleton. Many years later his daughter Cecily would explain: ‘he was going to lay the world at her feet … He wanted to pour something out round her feet and say “there you are you see, you’ve married a man who’s making his own way in life and I’ve brought you back the goods.”’1

Exploration had been on his mind for some time, though Antarctica was something new. Shackleton’s interest in exploration had been cultivated through the pages of Boy’s Own and the Arctic exploits of Hall. He took his interest a little further in 1899 when he became a Fellow of the Royal Geographical Society, whose very essence was to promote discovery and expand horizons. (Shackleton also offered an article on Atlantic winds and currents for the Society’s Geographical Journal, which was politely rejected because it contained nothing new.)

Shackleton’s version of events, which he recalled in an interview many years later, carried the rose-tinted hue of man with a gift for spinning a good yarn. Speaking in 1910, long after he had learned the value of self-promotion, Shackleton claimed to know about ‘everything and everybody’ before first going to the Antarctic and even told a story of how in his dreams he was ‘strongly drawn towards the mysterious south’. The magazine interviewer, sensing a trace of colourful embroidery, noted that ‘for all his fame he [Shackleton] is still little more than a big schoolboy’.2

Others were equally sceptical about Shackleton’s motivation. Mill, his first biographer, wrote that Antarctica was ‘an opportunity and nothing more’ and that Shackleton had ‘no natural affinity for the polar regions, no genius for scientific research’. Mill, who understood Shackleton better than most, concluded that he might just as eagerly have joined a ship searching for buried treasure on the Spanish Main.3

Louis Bernacchi, the physicist on the proposed expedition, was another who contradicted Shackleton’s claim to ‘know everything and everybody’ connected with the continent. Bernacchi recalled that Shackleton ‘evinced no interest’ in any previous Antarctic expeditions.

Yet there was no denying Shackleton’s lust for adventure, and opening up the unknown Antarctic continent was a quest which echoed with the late19th-century mood. This was the age of ‘New Imperialism’, a period of great empire-building when many European nations, America and Japan plunged into a headlong scramble to occupy new territories in Africa, the Far East and the Pacific islands. After more than two decades of global recession from 1873 to 1896, governments were eagerly trying to develop bigger markets elsewhere and annexing other territories was common. Imperialism was fashionable.

Britain of the time luxuriated in leading the world and in fostering a belief that almost anything was possible to smart Victorians. During the ‘Imperial century’ from Waterloo in 1815 to the outbreak of the First Word War, Britain assumed control over vast new territories in Africa, Asia and the Middle East and became a truly global power built on the solid foundations of imperial power. In 1897, as Queen Victoria celebrated her Diamond Jubilee, one in four of all people on earth were her subjects.

Empire-building was a work-in-progress for the Victorians. While much of the world had been mapped, the two Poles remained untouched and by the 1890s, explorers were taking the first tentative steps towards the remote ‘Third Pole’, Mount Everest. Antarctica, in every sense, was a vacant white space waiting for discovery and occupation.

Shackleton, like most children of the age, was brought up with the belief that Britain governed by divine right and that the British were in the vanguard of human advancement on earth. Cecil Rhodes, the swashbuckling standard-bearer of the Empire, captured the mood of self-righteousness and national superiority when he claimed: ‘I contend that we are the first race in the world and the more of the world we inhabit, the better it is for the human race.’

Such sentiments rang true for Shackleton, a man whose upbringing within the Protestant Ascendancy was living proof of the value of the Empire for those born on the right side of the social order. Shackleton, immersed in the public school doctrine of unquestioning patriotism and noblesse oblige, could hardly be anything other than another staunch ambassador for the imperialism of the age.

Exploration was in vogue in Victorian times and explorers were its cast of celebrities. Explorers were the adventurers who led the way, opening up new territories and bringing ‘civilisation’ to millions across the globe in the name of the Empire. Legendary quests like navigating the North-West Passage or finding the source of the Nile were the imperialists’ battle cries.

Men like Livingstone, Burton and Stanley were household names and rivalled great soldiers and statesmen for popular acclaim. Shackleton, with his restive ambition and untapped energy, possessed the same maverick qualities as a Burton or a Stanley and the persona of the explorer as a national hero sat far more happily with Shackleton’s streak of fiery ambition than the more measured qualities needed for statesmanship or military strategy.

The popular appeal of heroic explorers was sustained by stirring books such as Rider Haggard’s King Solomon’s Mines or the many adventure stories for young boys flowing from the prolific pen of R.M. Ballantyne. Mainstream publications like Illustrated London News and The Strand Magazine poured out graphic accounts of great journeys and the growing phenomenon of popular newspapers for the increasingly literate working classes introduced legions of new readers.

James Gordon Bennett, the ebullient American newspaper proprietor, sent Henry Morton Stanley into the heart of unknown Africa in the 1870s to search for Dr David Livingstone in the hope of a sensational scoop which would sell more copies of his New York Herald. In Britain the success of mass-circulation newspapers was typified by the launch of the Daily Mail in 1896. Within a few years it was selling over 1 million copies a day.

Explorers, too, quickly realised that the popular press provided an ideal platform and might propel them onto the lucrative lecture circuit where the sponsors of future adventures could be unearthed. Hall, whose journeys had fascinated Shackleton as a child, was among the first to exploit the link between explorers and the media with a series of florid tales for magazines about his exploits in the Arctic wastes.

Shackleton, perhaps following the lead of Hall, would later fine-tune his relationships with the press and develop a very modern style of media strategy which linked the financing of his Antarctic expeditions with newspapers, books and even the latest advance of film-making.

Shackleton’s most significant step towards becoming an explorer was to meet Llewellyn Longstaff. The pair met in the summer of 1900 at Longstaff ’s home in the London suburb of Wimbledon and the pair immediately clicked. Longstaff warmed to his cheerful, engaging guest and listened sympathetically when Shackleton talked enthusiastically about his ambition and asked for help to join the planned National Antarctic Expedition.

Llewellyn Longstaff, who was 59 years old, came from the liberal wing of Victorian England’s industrial hierarchy. He made his money from the successful Blundell Spence paint company of Hull and took his liberal principles onto the shop floor as early as 1887 by introducing an innovative profit-sharing scheme for his workers. A newspaper of the time said he was ‘a quiet, pleasant business-like man’.

He was considerably more. Longstaff ’s interests ranged from literature to zoology and from philosophy to meteorology. He was active in Hull’s Chamber of Commerce and Shipping, a keen traveller and Fellow of the Royal Geographical Society for almost 50 years. Longstaff was also a retired colonel in the Brigade of East Yorkshire Volunteers and his philanthropic leanings made him a generous supporter of causes such as the Red Cross. (Tom Longstaff, his son, became an acclaimed mountaineer and his ascent of Trisul (23,385 ft/7,128 m) in the Himalaya in 1907 was a record altitude at the time.)

Longstaff, with his trim physique, sharp, darting eyes, close-cropped beard and bronzed complexion, looked more like a veteran explorer than a successful businessman. In the eager, energetic Shackleton he saw a man after his own heart. Longstaff was also a prominent member of the Freemasons. Within 12 months of their first meeting, Shackleton was also initiated into the shadowy domain of Freemasonry. Without hesitation Longstaff agreed to help in getting Shackleton to Antarctica.

Antarctica had lived in the imagination for centuries before it was even sighted. The ancient Greek scholars postulated its existence without setting eyes on the continent and in 1773 Captain James Cook crossed the Antarctic Circle for the first time. Cook never saw the continent and doubted whether the frozen seas, which blocked the path for his ships, were even worth exploring. Land was not sighted until 1820 during the separate voyages of the Russian Thaddeus von Bellingshausen and Edward Bransfield from Ireland. Soon afterwards, the Scots whaling captain James Weddell took his ships into the sea that would later bear his name and John Biscoe, another proficient sailor from the whaling fleet, circumnavigated the continent in the early 1830s.
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The most significant breakthrough came in the early 1840s with the four-year voyage of James Clark Ross and Francis Crozier, the 19th century’s most outstanding voyage of discovery at sea. Ross and Crozier’s ships, Erebus and Terror, penetrated the pack ice surrounding the continent and mapped large tracts of territory for the first time, including the Ross Sea, McMurdo Sound and the huge Ice Barrier today known as the Ross Ice Shelf.

Yet Ross and Crozier returned to find that Antarctica had faded from the spotlight and public support for major polar expeditions began to evaporate in the 1850s, largely because of the calamitous Franklin expedition. Sent to find the North-West Passage in 1845, the entire expedition disappeared in the Arctic at a cost of all 129 lives – including Crozier – and an estimated £700,000 (about £40 million/€48 million today) spent in years of vain searching for the missing men.

Over three decades passed before Challenger crossed the Antarctic Circle – the first powered vessel to do so – during the mammoth oceanographic expedition of 1872–76. By the early 1890s a few doughty whaling ships, intent solely on making money rather than geographical discovery, re-entered Antarctic waters in search of fresh hunting grounds.

As the 19th century drew to a close, Antarctica remained as much a mystery to the Victorians as it did to the Greeks. No humans had penetrated beyond the coastline and it was still not known if the continent was a single land mass, a collection of islands or whether open seas ran all the way to the South Pole. Victorian scholars knew more about the moon than Antarctica.

The campaign to explore the Antarctic was effectively launched in 1893, the same year that imperial adventurers Charles Bruce and Francis Younghusband produced the first plan to climb Mount Everest. Dr John Murray, the distinguished scientist, posed the question to the Royal Geographical Society (RGS) in London: ‘What is the nature of the snow and ice-covered land observed at so many points towards the South Pole?’ Murray, a much-respected figure who served on the Challenger expedition and was among the founders of modern oceanography, advocated sending an expedition south to solve what he regarded as the biggest scientific challenge of the day.

It was a challenge picked up with relish by Sir Clements Markham, President of the RGS and godfather of early-20th-century polar exploration. It was Markham, a resolutely determined and Machiavellian character with an incurable fondness for plotting, who ultimately drove Britain to explore Antarctica.

Markham, crusty, manipulative and ambitious, was a mixed bag of gifted visionary and diehard reactionary. He was an empire builder who pushed exploration to the furthest extremes but ultimately stumbled because his grand schemes were too often rooted in old-fashioned ideals. Mill, an authority on polar affairs, summed up Markham’s strengths and weaknesses with the observation that he was ‘an enthusiast rather than a scholar’.

Born in the small Yorkshire village of Stillingfleet in 1830, Markham entered the navy at 14 and gained his first taste of the ice during the search for Franklin in 1850. Although he later developed a passion for polar exploration, his first love was Peru and the ancient Inca culture. During distinguished service in the India Office, he smuggled the native cinchona plants and seeds – a vital source of quinine – from Peruvian forests into India to help in the fight against malaria.

Markham was an inveterate traveller, prolific writer and secretary at the Royal Geographical Society for 25 years, a period which saw the RGS pushed to the centre stage of national geographical affairs and cement its status as one of the great Victorian institutions. Knighted in 1896, Markham was a man of formidable aspiration and classic 19th-century jingoism who was cursed by an unstoppable desire to control and dominate the committees and institutions he served.

After becoming President in 1893, Markham saw exploration of the Antarctic as a useful means of reviving interest in the organisation and preventing other nations establishing a foothold on the continent. In 1895, two years after Murray threw down the gauntlet, Markham presided over the Sixth International Geographical Conference in London and approval was given for exploration to begin. Exploration of the Antarctic, the Congress resolved, was the ‘greatest piece of geographical exploration still to be undertaken’ and would advance knowledge in ‘almost every branch’ of science.4

Even while delegates were talking, the first tentative steps had been taken. In January 1895, six months before the Congress sat, a Norwegian businessman, Henrik Bull, sent a small party ashore at a windswept Cape Adare and made the first documented landing on the Antarctic mainland. One of the most eagerly sought papers at the Geographical Congress a few months later was submitted by Carsten Borchgrevink, a pushy opportunist from Norway who leapt from the rowing boat coming ashore at Cape Adare and would always claim to be the first man to set foot on the Antarctic continent.

However, Markham’s own polar ambitions soon became bogged down in bureaucracy, political infighting and an uphill struggle to persuade a reluctant government to provide money to finance the expedition. The government was lukewarm to Markham’s overtures, mainly because the navy’s most pressing need on the eve of the 20th century was the costly modernisation of the fleet in the face of Germany’s heavy shipbuilding programme. Besides, the damaging failure of Franklin remained a clear memory.

In an attempt to sway government opinion, Markham gambled on inviting the Royal Society, the prestigious body representing the scientific establishment whose influential members had the ear of ministers, to join the expedition. But the gamble backfired, largely because of sharp differences between Markham and the Royal Society over whether the venture’s main focus should be geographical discovery or the advance of science. The network of joint committees, involving scientists from the Royal Society, top naval figures from the Admiralty and Markham’s clique from the RGS, soon ground to a halt in a quagmire of bureaucracy and bickering.

In 1899, after four years of wrangling and a poor response to appeals for money, Markham’s ambitions had stalled and he was running out of options. The vision of a government-funded national undertaking of imperial endeavour was seemingly at an end.

Markham, now approaching his 70th birthday, was left with the huge task of generating up to £100,000 (almost £6 million/€7 million today) to launch a private expedition to replace a government-funded undertaking. By early 1899, only £14,000 had been raised. The RGS gave £5,000, but the Royal Society, to Markham’s fury, did not provide a penny, aside from some personal donations by private individuals.

The quickening pace of developments elsewhere only added to Markham’s mounting frustration. The Belgian ship Belgica sailed south under Adrien de Gerlache in 1897 and was trapped in the Bellingshausen Sea. Belgica’s party, which included the young Norwegian Roald Amundsen, earned the unexpected distinction of being the first to overwinter in the Antarctic.

Newspaper magnate George Newnes enraged the combustible Markham even further by giving Borchgrevink the substantial sum of £40,000 to fund his private Southern Cross expedition. The expedition, which landed again at Cape Adare in 1899, became the first party to spend the winter on the Antarctic mainland. At the moment when Markham’s plans were dissolving, the German government delivered a fresh blow by agreeing to finance the Gauss expedition, a largely scientific undertaking led by Dr Erich von Drygalski.

Markham was at a low ebb in the spring of 1899 when Longstaff suddenly surfaced with a startling offer to donate around a quarter of the funds needed to mount the expedition. Markham, with a model of understatement, said: ‘On March 24, 1899 Mr Longstaff asked me if £25,000 would enable the expedition to start.’ Curiously, Longstaff asked for nothing in return and was never given adequate recognition for his outstanding generosity.5

Longstaff ’s generosity, worth around £1.5 million/€1.8 million in today’s terms, was the catalyst. The Prince of Wales, the future King Edward VII, agreed to become patron of the expedition and his son, the future George V, vice-patron. The government, under intense pressure to support the expedition, performed a swift volte-face by agreeing to provide £45,000 if Markham could match the funds from private sources.

By August 1900, at around the time Shackleton first met Longstaff, the combined total of public and private money stood at £93,000. Markham’s dream, the National Antarctic Expedition, was becoming a reality.

However, the welcome advances in fund-raising were overshadowed by the worsening relationship between Markham and the Royal Society, which came to a head over the vexed question of who should lead the expedition. Leadership, in turn, would dictate whether the expedition’s main aims should be Markham’s preference of discovering and mapping new territories or the Royal Society’s insistence on expanding the scientific knowledge of the continent.

The Society’s choice of commander was Professor John Walter Gregory, an experienced explorer and accomplished geologist with impressive credentials. Gregory, who had made the first crossing of Spitsbergen with Martin Conway in the early 1890s, had explored many unknown parts of Africa and coined the term Great Rift Valley in Kenya. He was initially appointed scientific director of the expedition and scheduled to take charge of the small party – mostly scientists – to land and overwinter in the Antarctic.

Markham’s choice was Robert Falcon Scott, a 31-year-old torpedo lieutenant from the Royal Navy who, it was said, had caught Markham’s eye more than 12 years earlier as a young midshipman. It hardly mattered to Markham that Scott had no experience of the ice and had never commanded an expedition. Markham wanted Scott to follow the tradition of naval explorers like Franklin, Parry and Ross. His one essential qualification, in Markham’s words, was ‘youth.’ Gregory, at 36, was just five years older than Scott.
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